CITY OF LOCKPORT
COMMON COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS

Lockport Municipal Building

Regular Meeting
Official Record
December 18th, 2024

6:00 P.M.
Mayor John Lombardi Ill called the meeting to order.
ROLL CALL
The following Common Council members answered the roll call:
Aldermen Craig, Devine, Fogle, Kirchberger, Lupo, Mullane
INVOCATION
RECESS
Recess for public input.
120424.1 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
On motion of Alderman Fogle, seconded by Alderman , the minutes of

the Regular Meeting of December 4th, 2024 are hereby approved as printed in the Journal of
Proceedings. Ayes . Carried.

FROM THE MAYOR

Appointments:

Frank R. Masic Jr. has been appointed to Heavy Equipment Operator for the Highway and
Parks Department for the City of Lockport effective December 3 2024. Said position is
permanent and subject to the City of Lockport Municipal Civil Service Rules and Regulations,

FROM THE CITY CLERK

The Clerk submitted payrolls, bills for services and expenses, and reported that the
Department Heads submitted reports of labor performed in their departments.
Reviewed by the Finance Committee.

Communications (which have been referred to the appropriate City officials)
Notice of Summons:
Daniel Warmus vs. City of Lockport, Lieutenant Stevn Tarnowski, Carol Edwards, Sarah

Lanzo, Jennifer, Emily Stoddard and John Doe.

Referred to Corporation Counsel



MOTIONS & RESOLUTIONS

121824.2
By Alderman:

Resolved, that the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to issue orders in favor of the
claimants for payrolls, bills and services to be paid on November 7th, 2024.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

121824.3  WITHDRAWN

1218244  WITHDRAWN

121824.5
By Alderman Fogle:

Resolved that pursuant to their request, The Lock Tender, 4 Lock Street, is granted
permission to use the parking lot behind 57 Canal Street on Saturday January 18", 2025 host
a street hockey tournament, from 12-4pm in hopes of bringing new customers to area
businesses during a relatively slow time of year.

Resolved that the Highway and Parks Department are hereby authorized and directed
to close the city parking lot behind 57 Canal Street on January 18" from 8am- 5pm, with
enough time for set-up and take down of temporary rink constructed of hay bails, and deliver
barricades and street closed signs, no parking signs and trash receptacles to the area prior to
the set-up of the event. Said permission is subject to The Lock Tender filing a certificate of
insurance naming the City of Lockport as additional insured with the City Clerk naming the City
of Lockport as additionally insured.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes

121824.6  Being prepared.
121824.7 ADJOURNMENT

At P.M. Alderman Fogle moved the Common Council be adjourned until 6:00pm
Wednesday, January 8th, 2025.

Seconded by Alderman and adopted. Ayes :

EMILY STODDARD
City Clerk



CITY OF LOCKPORT, NEW YORK
Lockport Municipal Building
One Locks Plaza
Lockport, NY 14094

INCORPORATED
1865

December 3, 2024
TO: Common Council

Under and by virtue of the authority conferred on me by the charter of the City of
Lockport, New York, I, John Lombardi III, Mayor of said City, do hereby appoint
Frank R. Masic, Jr, of 7315 Colonial Dr Ext, Niagara Falls, NY 14305 to Heavy
Equipment Operator, Highways and Parks. This is a permanent position effective
December 3, 2024.

Said appointment is permanent and subject to the City of Lockport Municipal Civil
Service Rules and Regulations.

Witness by hand and the Seal of the City of Lockport this 3™ day of December 2024.

4 . —
J O%Lom%ardj_. HI

Maybr

cc: F. Masic
C. Dimmick
City Clerk



(FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024
NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK R E

SUPREME COURT: COUNTY OF NIAGARA CEIVED

DANIEL WARMUS SUMMONS O€C 13 299,
Plaintiff,

VS.

CITY OF LOCKPORT Index No.:

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building The basis of venue is the

Lockport, New York 14094 Defendants’ Place of Business

CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT

STEVEN TARNOWSKI Plaintiff designates Niagara County

One Locks Plaza as the place of trial

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER
JOHN DOE(S)

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building

Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
CAROLE EDWARDS

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
SARAH LANZO

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
JENNIFER WOCHNA

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE

- EMILY STODDARD
One Locks Plaza

1 of 16



FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM EMHEK 05 Nranacassoss
NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S)
JOHN DOE(S)

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building

Lockport, New York 14094

Defendants.

TO THE ABOVE-NAMED DEFENDANTS:

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to answer the Complaint in this action and to serve
a copy of your Answer, or, if the Complaint is not served with the Summons, to serve a Notice of
Appearance, on the Plaintiff’s attorneys within TWENTY (20) DAYS after the service of this
Summons, exclusive of the day of service (or within THIRTY (30) DAYS after the service is
complete if this Summons is not personally delivered to you within the State of New York); and
in case of your failure to appear or answer, judgment will be taken against you by default for the

relief demanded in the Complaint.

DATED: Buffalo, New York
December 1, 2024 PENBERTHY LAW GROUP LLP

By:___s/Brittanylee Penberthy, Esg.
BRITTANYLEE PENBERTHY, ESQ.
Attorneys for Plaintiff
Office and P.O. Address
227 Niagara Street
Buffalo, New York 14201
(716) 803-8402

2 of 16



FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
SUPREME COURT: COUNTY OF NIAGARA

DANIEL WARMUS COMPLAINT
Plaintiff,

Vs,

CITY OF LOCKPORT Index No.:

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT
STEVEN TARNOWSKI

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER
JOHN DOE(S)

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building

Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
CAROLE EDWARDS

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
SARAH LANZO

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
JENNIFER WOCHNA

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
EMILY STODDARD

3 of 16



FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INPEX NO. B185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

One Locks Plaza
Lockport Municipal Building
Lockport, New York 14094

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S)
JOHN DOE(S)

One Locks Plaza

Lockport Municipal Building

Lockport, New York 14094

Defendants.

Plaintiff, above named, by his attorneys, PENBERTHY LAW GROUP LLP, for his
Complaint against the defendants, CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF LOCKPORT
LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN
DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA,
CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S), alleges as follows:

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO SUIT
1. The condition precedent to suit concerning New York General Municipal Law §50-¢’s
Notice of Claim requirements have been performed.
PARTIES
2. The Plaintiff, DANIEL WARMUS, at all times hereinafter mentioned was and still is a
resident of the Town of Alden, located within the County of Erie and the State of New York.
3. Upon information and belief, the defendant, CITY OF LOCKPORT, is a municipal

corporation duly organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of New York.

4 of 16



'(FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

4, Upon information and belief, within Defendant CITY OF LOCKPORT exists a police
department, which employs Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN
TARNOWSKI and CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S).

5. Upon information and belief, at all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants CITY OF
LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI and CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE
OFFICER JOHN DOE(S) were and still are residents of the County of Niagara and the State of
New York. CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI and CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S) are sued in both their individual and official
capacities.

6. Upon information and belief, at all times hereinafter mentioned, the police officer
defendants, CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI and CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S) were employed by Defendant CITY OF
LOCKPORT, as police officers, and at all relevant times mentioned herein were acting in their
capacity as police officers in accordance with the policies, directives, initiatives, both express,
implied, and as a matter of custom of the municipal defendant, CITY OF LOCKPORT.

7. Upon information and belief, at all times hereinafter mentioned, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO,
CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S)
were and still are residents of the County of Niagara and the State of New York. CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH

LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT

5 of 16



(FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S)
are sued in both their individual and official capacities.
8. Upon information and belief, at all times hereinafter mentioned, the City Hall employee
defendants, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA,
CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) were employed by Defendant CITY OF LOCKPORT, as City
employees, and at all relevant times mentioned herein were acting in their capacity as City
employees in accordance with the policies, directives, initiatives, both eﬁcprcss, implied, and as a
matter of custom of the municipal defendant, CITY OF LOCKPORT.
9. Defendant CITY OF LOCKPORT is vicariously liable for the conduct of Defendants CITY
OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE
OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) under the doctrine of respondeat superior.
STATEMENT OF FACTS
10.  Onorabout August 18, 2023, Plaintiff DANIEL WARMUS presented lawfully to the City
of Lockport Municipal office, located at 1 Locks Plaza, Lockport, New York, 14904, and was
video recording the service of process of a city employee of his own civil claim. In the recording
of lawful process, Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE

JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and/or

6 of 16



'IEILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024
RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1

CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) accuse Plaintiff of committing the charge

of harassment, knowing the same not to be true.

11. None of Plaintiff’s aforementioned activities were conducted in a criminal manner under

the laws of the state nor was there indicia of criminality afoot, nonetheless, Plaintiff was subjected

to a prolonged stop, arrest, and prosecution by Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT

STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF

LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH

LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT

EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN

DOE(S).

12. Upon information and belief, Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT
STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH
LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S),
without sufficient cause, ordered the arrest and prosecution of Plaintiff.

13. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ conduct was retaliatory for Plaintiff’s recording
of Defendants.

14.  Ultimately, the aforementioned false charges against Plaintiff were dismissed on or about
December 14, 2023.

15. Upon information and belief, the incident hereinbefore described and the resultant damages
sustained here was caused as a result of the negligence, carelessness, reckless disregard and/or

unlawful conduct on the part of the agents, servants and/or employees of the CITY OF

7 of 16



FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

LOCKPORT and CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S). Such acts or
omissions include, but are not limited to, unlawful arrest; malicious prosecution; failing and omitting
to have and provide personnel with sufficient experience to handle similar circumstances; and
allowing and permitting personnel and/or police officers to cause injury to Plaintiff.
AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST
DEFENDANTS CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF
LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY
OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZQO, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S), ABOVE-
NAMED, THE PLAINTIFF, DANIEL WARMUS, ALLEGES:
16.  Plaintiff incorporates and repeats the above paragraphs in their entirety with the same force
and effect as if set forth fully herein.
17.  Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN
TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH
LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN
DOE(S) did cause the commencement of and/or continuation of and otherwise participate in a

judicial proceeding against the Plaintiff and said Defendants did wrongfully and maliciously

complain against, and initiate the judicial proceedings or participate therein and/or continue the

8 of 16



"IFILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

action in Court against the Plaintiff, where the proceedings lacked probable cause and merit, and
were based on false allegations.
18.  The judicial proceedings did terminate in favor of the Plaintiff.
19.  Each and every of the individual defendants named herein at all times mentioned in this
Complaint were state actors acting under color of state law.
20.  That by reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff has been caused to sustain injuries and losses,
all to each of his damage in a sum of money exceeding the monetary jurisdiction of all lower
Courts.
AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST
DEFENDANTS CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF
LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSK]I, CITY
OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S), ABOVE-
NAMED, THE PLAINTIFF, DANIEL WARMUS, ALLEGES:
21.  Plaintiff incorporates and repeats the above paragraphs in their entirety with the same force
and effect as if set forth fully herein.
22.  Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S), at all times

mentioned in this Complaint, were acting under color of New York State law, actionable under 42

U.S.C. § 1983.

9 of 16



FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 P} INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

23. Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) intended to arrest
and maliciously prosecute Plaintiff, wherein Plaintiff was conscious of the arrest and did not
consent to the same, nor was Defendants’ activities privileged.

24.  Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) lacked probable
cause to arrest Plaintiff.

25. By falsely charging and instituting an arrest of Plaintiff, Defendants CITY OF
LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE
OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and/or
CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) violated his Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendment rights to be free from deprivations of liberty without due process of law.

26.  That by reason of the foregoing, Plaintiff has been caused to sustain injuries and losses,
all to each of his damage in a sum of money exceeding the monetary jurisdiction of all lower

Courts.

10

10 of 16



'[FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST
CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF LOCKPORT
LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S), ABOVE-
NAMED, THE PLAINTIFF, DANIEL WARMUS, ALLEGES:

27.  Plaintiff incorporates and repeats the above paragraphs in their entirety with the same force
and effect as if set forth fully herein.
28.  All of the above conduct, including the malicious prosecution under color of state law
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, against Plaintiff by Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF
LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE
OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY
OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE
JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and/or
CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) was committed in violation of each of the
Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment rights to be free from the same.
29.  To prevail on a § 1983 claim for malicious prosecution, “a plaintiff must plead (1) the
initiation or continuation of a criminal proceeding; (2) termination of the proceeding in his favor;
(3) lack of probable cause for commencing the proceeding; and (4) actual malice as a motivation
for the Defendants' actions.” Murphy v. Lynn, 118 F.3d 938, 947 (2d Cir. 1997).
30.  Plaintiff can show all of the above elements existed in relation to him being prosecuted for

the offenses claimed in the incident of August 18, 2023, wherein there was no cause for arrest, the

charges were dismissed, and malice existed against Plaintiff herein.

11

11 of 16



[FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

31.  As detailed above, the Defendants lacked probable cause to initiate the above-referenced
proceedings and institute charges against the Plaintiff on the August 18, 2023 incident, as well as
continue with these charges until they were dismissed on the merits.

32.  Asthe lack of probable cause to initiate these proceedings has been sufficiently pled, there

is no need to independently plead malice. Malice can be inferred from the lack of probable cause.

Cruz v. City of New York, No. 08 Civ. 8640 (LAP), 2010 WL 3020602, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. July 27,

2010); Bleiwas v. City of New York, No. 15 CIV. 10046 (ER), 2017 WL 3524679, at *6 (S.D.N.Y.

Aug. 15, 2017).
33.  Defendants’ actions deprived Plaintiff of his due process rights and his right to be free from
unreasonable restraint upon his liberty under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments.
34.  Plaintiff received favorable terminations on the criminal charge lodged against him based
on the lack of merit to said charges.
AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST
CITY OF LOCKPORT, ABOVE-NAMED, THE PLAINTIFF,
DANIEL WARMUS, ALLEGES:
35.  Plaintiff incorporates and repeats the above paragraphs in their entirety with the same force
and effect as if set forth fully herein.
36.  Actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as a result of the municipal policy, custom, or practice
or decision of municipal policymaker with final policymaking authority, Defendants CITY OF
LOCKPORT, CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY

STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) took action in the

12

12 of 16



'FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2024 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

instruction and/or promulgations of rules, under color of law, to cause and effect the deprivation

of Plaintiff’s Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments right to be free from deprivations of liberty

without due process of law, to be subjected to the false arrest and malicious prosecution, above-
- described.

37.  To establish a municipal liability claim, "a plaintiff is required to plead and prove three

elements: (1) an official policy or custom that (2) causes the plaintiff to be subjected to (3) a denial

of a constitutional right." Torraco v. Port Auth. of N.Y. & N.J., 615 F.3d 129, 140 (2d Cir. 2010)

(quoting Wray v. City of New York, 490 F.3d 189, 195 (2d Cir. 2007)). A plaintiff can establish
an official policy or custom by showing any of the following: (1) a formal policy officially
endorsed by the municipality; (2) actions or decisions made by municipal officials with decision-
making authority; (3) a practice so persistent and widespread that it constitutes a custom of which
policymakers must have been aware; or (4) a failure by policymakers to properly train or supervise
their subordinates, such that the policymakers exercised "deliberate indifference" to the rights of
the plaintiff and others encountering those subordinates [emphasis added]. lacovangelo v. Corr.

Med. Care, Inc., 624 F. App'x 10, 13-14 (2d Cir. 2015) (formal policy officially endorsed by the

municipality); Matusick v. Erie Cty. Water Auth., 757 F.3d 31, 62 (2d Cir. 2014) (widespread and

persistent practice); Carter v. Inc. Vill. of Ocean Beach, 759 F.3d 159, 164 (2d Cir. 2014) (failure
to train amounting to deliberate indifference); Jones v. Town of E. Haven, 691 F.3d 72, 81 (2d Cir.
2012) (policymaking official's "express" or "tacit" ratification of low-level employee's actions).).
Relating to widespread and pervasive practices and using logical inferences to impute knowledge
onto policymakers, circumstantial evidence can be sufficient to support an inference that . . . a
municipal policy or custom exists." Santos v. New York City, 847 F. Supp. 2d 573, 576 (S.D.N.Y.

2012) (citing Dwares v. City of New York, 985 F.2d 94, 100 (2d Cir. 1993)).

13

13 of 16



[FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2022 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

38.  Defendant CITY OF LOCKPORT is liable for the false arrest and malicious prosecution
of Plaintiff under the Monell Doctrine.

39.  Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) conspired to falsely
charge Plaintiff knowing there was no actual criminal conduct committed by Plaintiff by his
videorecording a judicial process.

40. Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI, CITY OF
LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE
EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) were advised by
their superiors and granted permission, express or implied, to proceed with the malicious
prosecution of Plaintiff.

41, If his actions were done without deliberate malicious intent, in drafting and filing the
baseless criminal charges against Plaintiff, especially after having reviewed the accounts of the
complaining parties, Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN TARNOWSKI
and CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S) exhibited poor training and a lack
of proper supervision.

42.  Iftheir actions were done without deliberate malicious intent, in insisting on filing baseless

criminal charges against Plaintiff, Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE

14

14 of 16



: 7 INDEX NO. E185506/2024
NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE EMILY
STODDARD, and/or CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S) exhibited poor
training and a lack of proper supervision
43.  Asaresult of the foregoing, the Plaintiff has sustained general and special damages in an
amount that exceeds the jurisdictional limits of all lower courts that would otherwise have
jurisdiction.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

44.  In consideration of the foregoing claims, declaratory, injunctive, and equitable relief is
sought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2202.
45.  Asaresult ofthe foregoing, Plaintiff DANIEL WARMUS requests recovery for reasonable
attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988 and Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 54.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff DANIEL WARMUS demands judgment on the above counts
against the Defendants CITY OF LOCKPORT, CITY OF LOCKPORT LIEUTENANT STEVEN
TARNOWSKI, CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE OFFICER JOHN DOE(S), CITY OF
LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE CAROLE EDWARDS, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE SARAH
LANZO, CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE JENNIFER WOCHNA, CITY OF LOCKPORT
EMPLOYEE EMILY STODDARD, and CITY OF LOCKPORT EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOE(S),
their units, their officers, employees, against and other persons acting in concert or participation
with them as stated above, and award the following amounts:

a. Compensatory damages in favor of the Plaintiff in an amount to be determined by a
Jjury;

b. Exemplary damages in favor of the Plaintiff;

15

15 of 16



FILED: NIAGARA COUNTY CLERK 12/01/2022 10:58 PM INDEX NO. E185506/2024

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/01/2024

¢. Costs of this action, including reasonable attorney fees to the Plaintiff pursuant to the
Civil Rights Attorney's Fees Awards Act of 1976, U.S.C. 1988 (1976); and

d. Such other relief as the court may deem appropriate.

DATED: Buffalo, New York
December 1, 2024 PENBERTHY LAW GROUP LLP

By:___s/Brittanylee Penberthy, Esq.
BRITTANYLEE PENBERTHY, ESQ.

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Office and P.O. Address
227 Niagara Street
Buffalo, New York 14201
(716) 803-8402

16

16 of 16



NYSCEF Confirmation Notice
Niagara County Supreme Court

The NYSCEF website has received an electronic filing on 12/01/2024 10:58 PM. Please keep this notice
as a confirmation of this filing.

E185506/2024
DANIEL WARMUS v. CITY OF LOCKPORT et al
Assigned Judge: None Recorded

Documents Received on 12/01/2024 10:58 PM
Doc # Document Type
3 SUMMONS + COMPLAINT

Filing User

BRITTANY LEE PENBERTHY [ bpenberthy@thepenlawgmup com | (716) 803-8402
227 Niagara St, Buffalo, NY 14201-2336

E-mail Ser\nce ‘Not ficatmns
An email regarding this filing has been sent to the following on 12/01/2024 10: 58 PM

BRITTANY L. PENBERTHY - bpenberthy@thepenlawgroup.com

Joseph A. jastrzemski, Niagara County Clerk - http://www.niagaracounty.com/Departments/CountyClerk.aspx
Phone: 716-439-7022 Fax: 716-439-7066 (fax)

NYSCEF Resource Center, nyscef@nycourts.gov
Phone: (646) 386-3033 | Fax: (212) 401-9146 | Website: www.nycourts.gov/efile

Page I of 2



NYSCEF Confirmation Notice
Niagara County Supreme Court

E185506/2024
DANIEL WARMUS v. CITY OF LOCKPORT et al
Assigned judge: None Recorded

Email Notifications NOT Sent

Role Party Attorney
Respondent CITY OF LOCKPORT No consent on record.
Respondent STEVEN TARNOWSKI No consent on record.

Respondent CITY OF LOCKPORT POLICE No consent on record.
OFFICER JOHN DOES

Respondent CAROLE EDWARDS No consent on record.
Respondent SARAH LANZO No consent on record.
Respondent JENNIFER WOCHNA No consent on record.
Respondent EMILY STODDARD No consent on record.
Respondent CITY OF LOCKPORT No consent on record.

EMPLOYEE(S) JOHN DOES

* Court rules require hard copy service upon non-participating parties and attorneys who have opted-out or declined
consent.

Joseph A. Jastrzemski, Niagara County Clerk - http://www.niagaracounty.com/Departments/CountyClerk.aspx
Phone: 716-439-7022 Fax: 716-439-7066 (fax)

NYSCEF Resource Center, nyscef@nycourts.gov
Phone: (646) 386-3033 | Fax: (212) 401-9146 | Website: www.nycourts.gov/efile

Page 2 of 2



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF ERIE
X

DANIEL WARMUS

Plaintiff/Petitioner,
- against - Index No. E185506/2024

CITY OF LOCKPORT, et al.
Defendant/Respondent.
X
NOTICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING
(Consensual Case)
(Uniform Rule § 202.5-b)

You have received this Notice because:

1) The Plaintiff/Petitioner, whose name is listed above, has filed this case using the
New York State Courts E-filing system (“NYSCEF”), and

2) You are a Defendant/Respondent (a party) in this case.

e If you are represented by an attorney:

Give this Notice to your attorney. (Attorneys: see “Information for Attorneys” pg. 2).

e If you are not represented by an attorney:

You will be served with all documents in paper and you must serve and file your
documents in paper, unless you choose to participate in e-filing.

If you choose to participate in e-filing, you must have access to a computer and a

scanner or other device to convert documents into electronic format, a connection
to the internet, and an e-mail address to receive service of documents.

The benefits of participating in e-filing include:
® serving and filing your documents electronically
® free access to view and print your e-filed documents
® limiting your number of trips to the courthouse
® paying any court fees on-line (credit card needed)
To register for e-filing or for more information about how e-filing works:

e visit: https://iapps.courts.state.ny.us/nyscef/UnRepresentedHome or
o contact the Clerk’s Office or Help Center at the court where the case was filed. Court

contact information can be found at www.nycourts.qgov

Paae 1 of 2 FF-3



To find legal information to help you represent yourself visit www.nycourthelp.gov

Information for Attorneys
An attorney representing a party who is served with this notice must either consent or
decline consent to electronic filing and service through NYSCEF for this case.
Attorneys registered with NYSCEF may record their consent electronically in the manner
provided at the NYSCEF site. Attorneys not registered with NYSCEF but intending to
participate in e-filing must first create a NYSCEF account and obtain a user ID and
password prior to recording their consent by going to www.nycourts.gov/efile

Attorneys declining to consent must file with the court and serve on all parties of record a
declination of consent.

For additional information about eiectronic filing and to create a NYSCEF account, visit the
NYSCEF website at www.nycourts.gov/efile or contact the NYSCEF Resource Center

(phone: 646-386-3033; e-mail: nyscef@nycourts.gov).

Dated: 4 DECEMBER 2024

BRITTANY L. PENBERTHY 227 NIAGARA STREET
Name
PENBERTHY LAW GROUP LLP BUFFALO, NEW YORK 14201
Firm Name Address
716-803-8402
Phone
bpenberthy @thepenlawgroup.com
E-Malil
To: ALL DEFENDANTS

2/24120

Index # Pane 2 of 2 FF-3



City of Lockport - Resolution Request Form

agenda Description: 1 /18 Parking Lot Closure Request

Presented By: The Lock Tender Date Submitted: 12/3/2024

Topic Area (Select Most Applicable Option):

Community Event X Local Law Change
Budget Amendment Community Development
Contract Approval Community Event
Donation Acceptance Engineering Process
Grant Application / Award Code and Planning
Fund Utilization Request Other

Please provide to Clerk at least 9 _calendar days prior to Council meeting. Otherwise request will go to following meeting.

Summary of Resolution:

The Lock Tender, 4 Lock Street, requests closure of the parking lot behind 57 Canal Street on
Saturday, January 18, 2025 (8 am - 5 pm). We hope to host a street hockey tournament at the space
between 12-4 pm. The additional requested closure time is to set up and take down the event. We
have selected the shoulder season in the hopes of bringing new customers to area businesses during
a relatively slow time of year. A temporary rink will be constructed of hay bays and removed
immediately after the event. The name of the tournament will be "The Lock Tender Classic"

Explanation of Attachments:

Please include all backup correspondence, purchase order, quotes, meeting minutes, emails, etc... If any of this information is confidential and cannot
be released publically, please denote a check in this field:

Clerk/Legal/Finance Approval:

Notes:

Name: Seth Piccirillo, Co-Owner Date of Approval:




City Clerk

From: Seth Piccirillo <seth@tapandcraft.com>

Sent: Monday, November 11, 2024 1:.54 PM

To: cityclerk@lockportny.gov; mayor@lockportny.gov

Cc: lockportmarket@gmail.com

Subject: [EXTERNAL] 2025 street closure / parking lot use for 2 events

Good Afternoon - I hope you are both well. My name is Seth Piccirillo, owner of the Lock Tender - 4 Lock
Street. First, everyone from the City and Lockport Main Street has been great to work with, and very helpful
since we opened in July. Thank you.

We are looking at hosting two separate events in 2025 that would require approval/action from the city. Sending
this email to start the conversation, but would be happy to set up a call or meeting to discuss. Most importantly,
we want to make sure we do everything in the proper way with the city. We are able to provide insurance for
both of these requests.

~Saturday, January 18 12 pm-4pm

Closure of the parking lot behind 57 Canal Street. \
Purpose: Street Hockey Tournament "The Lock Tender Classic"
12 team street hockey tournament, bringing in teams from throughout the region.

Saturday, July 26 9am-9pm
Closure of Ontario Street from the corner of Lock Street to the Spires, for a Tap & Craft Festival. The event is a
food, beer and wine tasting festival that will run from 3-7. The additional hours of closure request is for set up

and take down.

Please let me know the best way to formalize these requests. Thank you.



